
TThe Commonwealth of Massachusetts  
——— 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC UTILITIES 

PIPELINE SAFETY DIVISION 

INCIDENT REPORT 

126 Prince Street 
Needham, Massachusetts 

November 4, 2023



 

 
 
 
 

PIPELINE SAFETY DIVISION 
 
 
 

126 Prince Street, Needham, Massachusetts 
 
 

November 4, 2023 
 
 

NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy 
 
 

Estimated Property Damage (per PHMSA report): $391,578  
 
 

Injuries:  One individual receiving medical treatment but not requiring overnight in-patient 
hospitalization 

 
 

Report Issued: April 3, 2025 
 
 
  



 

Table of Contents 
I. INTRODUCTION .............................................................................................................. 1 

A. Scope of the Investigation ................................................................................................... 1 
B. Brief Overview of Incident ................................................................................................. 1 
C. Procedural History of Investigation and Enforcement........................................................ 2 

II. OVERVIEW OF PROJECT, INCIDENT, AND INVESTIGATION ................................ 3 
III. FINDINGS .......................................................................................................................... 8 

A. Damage Prevention ............................................................................................................. 8 
B. Equipment Calibration ........................................................................................................ 9 
C. Drug and Alcohol Testing ................................................................................................. 10 

IV. SUMMARY OF FINDINGS ............................................................................................ 11 
V. CONCLUSION ................................................................................................................. 12 
 
 
 



 

 
EXHIBIT LIST 

 
Exhibit 1: Eversource Report to Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration 

dated December 4, 2023 
 
Exhibit 2: Eversource Incident Analysis Report 
 
Exhibit 3: Eversource Dig Safe Violation Report, D.P.U. 23-DS-1260U 
   
Exhibit 4: R.J. Devereaux Dig Safe Violation Report, D.P.U. 23-DS-1260E 
 
Exhibit 5: R.J. Devereaux Incident Analysis Report 
 
Exhibit 6: Pipeline Safety Division Dig Safe Violation Report, D.P.U. 23-DS-1260I 
 
Exhibit 7: D.P.U. 23-PL-64, NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy Notice of 

Probable Violation  
 
Exhibit 8: D.P.U. 23-PL-64, NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy Informal 

Review Decision 
 
Exhibit 9: D.P.U. 23-DS-1260I, R.J. Devereaux Notice of Probable Violation 
 
Exhibit 10: D.P.U. 23-DS-1260I, R.J. Devereaux Informal Review Decision 
 
Exhibit 11: Telephonic Incident Notification 
 



126 Prince Street, Needham, Massachusetts (November 4, 2023)  Page 1 
D.P.U. 23-INC-01 Incident Report 
 
I. INTRODUCTION 

A. Scope of the Investigation 

 The Massachusetts Department of Public Utilities (“Department”), Pipeline Safety 

Division (“Division”), pursuant to G.L. c. 164, § 105A and a Federal Certification Agreement as 

provided for in 49 U.S.C. § 60105, has investigated a natural gas related house fire at 126 Prince 

Street, Needham, on November 4, 2023, resulting in estimated property damage of $391,578 and 

one individual seeking medical treatment (“Incident”).   

Pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 60105(c), and as part of the Department’s annual certification 

process by the United States Department of Transportation (“U.S. DOT”), the Department must 

report to the U.S. DOT: 

each accident or incident . . . involving a fatality, personal injury requiring 
hospitalization, or property damage or loss of more than an amount the [U.S. 
DOT] Secretary establishes, any other accident the [Department] considers 
significant, and a summary of the investigation by the [Department] of the cause 
and circumstances surrounding the accident or incident.   
 

 The Department has established procedures for determining the nature and extent of 

violations of codes and regulations pertaining to the safety of pipeline facilities and the 

transportation of gas, including but not limited to, G.L. c. 164, §§ 76, 76C, and 105A and 220 

CMR §§ 69.00 and 101.00 through 115.00.  The Division, on behalf of the Department, also 

enforces the U.S. DOT safety standards for gas pipeline systems as set forth in 49 CFR Parts 40, 

192, 193, and 199.   

B. Brief Overview of Incident 

On November 4, 2023, the Division responded to a report of a gas related incident, as 

defined in 49 CFR Part 191, §191.3, at the NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy 

(“Eversource”) facilities at 126 Prince Street, Needham.  R.J. Devereaux Corporation 
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(“Devereaux”), a contractor for Eversource, struck a gas service with machinery, resulting in a 

house fire.  One Devereaux crew member sustained injuries requiring treatment at a nearby 

hospital and the house was demolished on the day of the Incident.   

C. Procedural History of Investigation and Enforcement 

The Division, on behalf of the Department, began an investigation on the day of the 

Incident that included incident response and a review of applicable Eversource and Devereaux 

records.  On December 8, 2023, the Division issued an initial set of information requests to 

Eversource related to the Division’s investigation of the Incident.  Eversource responded to the 

information requests on January 19, 2023, and February 1, 2024.  As part of its response to these 

information requests, Eversource provided to the Division the Incident Report dated December 4, 

2023 that it submitted to PHMSA (Exhibit 1), and an incident analysis report related to its 

investigation of the Incident and recommendations (“Eversource Incident Analysis Report”) 

(Exhibit 2).  On December 1, 2023, Eversource submitted a Dig Safe Violation Report, 

(“DSVR”) 23-DS-1260U (Exhibit 3), to the Division with accompanying documents.  On 

January 18, 2024, Devereaux submitted a DSVR, 23-DS-1260E (Exhibit 4), to the Division with 

its own incident analysis report (“Devereaux Incident Analysis Report”) (Exhibit 5).  

Additionally, a Division inspector submitted a DSVR, 23-DS-1260I (Exhibit 6), on February 14, 

2024 with accompanying documents.   

On July 11, 2024, after reviewing the responses to the information requests from 

Eversource and other documentation, the Division issued a Notice of Probable Violation 

(“NOPV”), D.P.U. 23-PL-64, to Eversource (Exhibit 7), alleging violations of federal pipeline 

safety regulations and state damage prevention laws and regulations.  Eversource requested an 

informal conference, which was held on October 30, 2024.  At the informal conference, 
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Eversource did not contest the factual allegations in the NOPV, but reviewed in detail items in 

the original Compliance Agreement, including areas where it was seeking further clarification or 

had concerns about language used.  Eversource also presented documentation to show the 

remedial actions it has taken, or is in the process of taking, to address some of the issues raised in 

the NOPV.  In consideration of the topics discussed at the informal conference, and in review of 

the documentation provided, the Division issued an Informal Review Decision on February 7, 

2025 with a revised the Compliance Agreement.  Eversource signed the consent order for 23-PL-

64 on February 13, 2025, which assessed a civil penalty of $150,000 (Exhibit 8).   

On July 11, 2024, the Division also issued Devereaux an NOPV, D.P.U. 23-DS-1260I 

(Exhibit 9), alleging violation of the state damage prevention laws and regulations.  Devereaux 

requested an informal conference, which was held on October 30, 2024.  At the informal 

conference, Devereaux did not contest the factual allegations in the NOPV, but did request a 

reduction of the $150,000 civil penalty amount based on corrective actions taken after the 

Incident.  After review, the Division declined to reduce the civil penalty amount and issued an 

Informal Review Decision on February 7, 2025.  Devereaux signed the consent order for 23-DS-

1260I on March 5, 2025, which assessed a civil penalty of $150,000 (Exhibit 10).  

II. OVERVIEW OF PROJECT, INCIDENT, AND INVESTIGATION

On Saturday November 4, 2023, at approximately 9:00 a.m., the Division received a

Telephonic Incident Notification (Exhibit 11) that an excavator struck a gas service resulting in 

an ignition inside a building at 126 Prince Street, Needham.  The Division responded to the 

location of the Incident and discovered that R.J. Devereaux Corporation (“Devereaux”) was 

working as a contractor for Eversource to install a new gas service at the residence.  While 

excavating along the side of 126 Prince Street at approximately 7:45 a.m., a Devereaux crew 
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member struck the active steel service with an excavator.  At the time of the Incident, the service 

fed an inside meter set.  The hit service line resulted in a release of gas and ignition within the 

residence.  One Devereaux crew member sustained injuries requiring treatment at a nearby 

hospital, and the house was demolished on the day of the Incident.  Fortunately, nobody was in 

the home at the time of the incident. 

Eversource hired Devereaux as a contractor for a project to relay mains and services at 

and around Prince Street, Needham.  Devereaux was contractually responsible for locating 

facilities within the proposed work area.  On September 7, 2023, Eversource called in a Dig Safe 

Ticket listing Deveraux as the excavator for work to be performed along Prince Street.  The 

scope of work included the area from the street to the houses.  On September 5, 2023, a locator 

employed by Devereaux performed a markout at 126 Prince Street.  Devereaux had access to 

Eversource’s maps and records for the project.  The Eversource Incident Analysis Report 

provides that the “locator stated he performed a conductive markout by connecting the locating 

equipment to the regulator vent line and marked out the residence with marker flags and paint.”  

According to the Devereaux Incident Analysis Report, in an interview after the Incident, the 

locator reported that he did not go into the basement, but he direct connected his markout 

equipment to the vent coming out of the basement and the equipment produced a “strong signal.”  

When the locator went to verify his marks with the service card for 126 Prince Street, it did not 

match.  The multiple markout form dated September 5, 2023 (“Multi-Markout Form”)1 

documented this discrepancy.  The locator then left 126 Prince Street and went to 140 Prince 

 
1  Notably, the Multi-Markout Form reflected that the meter was outside, even though the 

meter was inside the basement.  The Multi-Markout Form also reflected that the locator 
gained access to the meter.   
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Street.  When the locator started working on 140 Prince Street, he identified the differences in 

the service cards and property locations in reference to Kerrydale Road.  The Devereaux Incident 

Analysis Report provides that the locator then “went back to 126 Prince Street with one of the 

service cards from 140 Prince Street and some of the measurements near the street seemed to 

match.”  The locator noted on the Multi-Markout Form that a test hole was necessary for both 

126 Prince Street and 140 Prince Street.   

On September 8, 2023, three days after the locator completed the markout, pre-

excavation photographs were taken by Devereaux.  These pre-excavation photographs show that 

while the main on Prince Street and service at the front of the yard of 126 Prince Street were 

marked with flags and paint, there were no flags or markings on the side yard of 126 Prince 

Street where the service was struck and damaged on the day of the Incident.  On October 2, 

2023, Eversource renewed Dig Safe Ticket 20233610205 for the Prince Street project and was 

assigned Dig Safe Ticket No. 20234001382.   

On October 4, 2023, a month prior to the incident, the locator, a Devereaux foreman, and 

an Eversource inspector reviewed the Multi-Markout Form.  The locator explained the 

discrepancy between the marks on the ground and the service card at 126 Prince Street.  The 

Eversource Incident Analysis Report provides: “The service card indicated the service was at a 

45-degree angle to the front of the house and followed by another 45-degree angle running 

parallel to the side of the house, with a final 90-degree angle leading into the house.  The marks 

on the driveway showed a 90-degree angle running parallel to the front of the house, followed by 

a 90-degree angle parallel to the side of the house.”  On October 4, 2023, the foreman completed 

a test hole where the trench for the new main would cross the existing service and its location 

was verified in the street at the existing main.  Following the Incident, the foreman claimed that 
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he direct connected to the tee in the street to identify the service.  Neither the Eversource 

inspector nor the Devereaux foreman walked around 126 Prince Street to confirm the presence of 

flags on the side of the house on October 4, 2023.  On October 26, 2023, the Dig Safe ticket was 

renewed again and assigned Ticket No. 20234311452.   

On November 4, 2023, the Division conducted a series of individual interviews with the 

three members of the Devereaux crew who were on scene at the time of the Incident.  The 

evidence shows that from approximately 6:45 a.m. to 7:15 a.m., the Devereaux crew arrived at 

126 Prince Street, reviewed the job brief for the day, walked the job site, and prepared their work 

for the day.  At approximately 7:25 a.m., the foreman began to excavate a trench within the street 

where the new service would be installed.  The foreman was acting as the machine operator on 

the day of the Incident.  Simultaneously, a laborer began to hand excavate alongside the side of 

the house and foundation where the new service was to be installed.  The laborer did not expose 

the existing active steel gas service or confirm its location at this time.  When the street 

excavation was completed, the foreman continued machine excavation along the side of the 

house where the laborer was hand digging.  The Devereaux crew reported that based on its 

review of the service card, it did not expect to conduct machine excavation over the active 

service.  The Eversource Incident Analysis Report provides: “The foreman and laborer stated 

there was a yellow markout flag behind the condenser pad.  Based on the location of the flag, the 

foreman believed they were outside of the tolerance zone and the crew proceeded to 

mechanically excavate the trench.” 

At approximately 7:45 a.m., the Devereaux crew struck the active gas service with the 

excavator causing gas to release.  The Eversource Incident Analysis Report reads: “The foreman 

felt a tug as the machine was being operated to excavate.  The laborer then started to hand-dig to 
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locate the impacted object.  The laborer told the foreman that he could hear blowing gas.”  At 

that time, it was believed that the gas leak was outside of the residence where the machinery 

struck the service.  The Devereaux crew attempted to shut off the gas at the curb valve but was 

unsuccessful because they did not have the proper valve key.   

While the laborer was still attempting to locate the service, the house ignited at 

approximately 7:51 a.m.  The laborer was injured at this time and treated at the hospital before 

returning to the site.  Immediately after the ignition, the Devereaux crew sought to evacuate any 

residents from the home.  Police were notified and fire trucks arrived on scene at approximately 

7:58 a.m.  First responders and the Devereaux crew learned that there were no residents or 

animals inside the home.  The Devereaux crew underwent Drug and Alcohol testing at AFC 

Urgent Care located at 370 Providence Highway, Dedham, between 3:55 p.m. and 4:20 p.m. on 

the day of the Incident.  

On November 7, 2023, the Division returned to 126 Prince Street, Needham, along with 

Eversource, Devereaux, the Massachusetts State Police, and other parties.  At this time, the home 

had been demolished with the service line still in place.  During this inspection, the utility line 

was marked out true to the service card.  Further, the service was marked out via indirect 

locating, direct locating, as well as physically revealed through vacuum excavation.  Locating the 

facility confirmed that the service line’s actual location differed from what the service card 

indicated.  Eversource’s service card for 126 Prince Street, Needham was inaccurate and had still 

not been updated as of November 7, 2023. 
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III. FINDINGS 

A. Damage Prevention 

Eversource’s Operations & Maintenance Plan OM-150 entitled “Damage Prevention and 

Markout of Gas Facilities” (“OM-150”) lays out procedures to be followed in preparation for 

excavation to avoid damage to gas facilities.  OM-150 Section IV. A. entitled “Requests on 

Behalf of Eversource Gas (Massachusetts)” requires Eversource to “[e]nsure that the proposed 

area of excavation is premarked according to means deemed acceptable under state regulations.”  

Eversource pre-excavation photos and on-site investigation do not yield any evidence that the 

proposed work area was premarked in accordance with 220 CMR 99.03.   

The Dig Safe tickets for this project indicated that Eversource and Devereaux would be 

relaying mains and services from the street to the houses along Prince Street.  OM-150 also 

states: “For excavations by, or on behalf, of Eversource Gas, all gas facilities within the scope of 

the DS ticket shall be located, marked out and actions taken and recorded in accordance with this 

procedure.”  The Multi-Markout Form authored by Devereaux personnel dated September 5, 

2023, states that the excavation area was marked with both paint and flags.  Pre-excavation 

photographs dated September 8, 2023, show that there were no service markings or flags on the 

side of 126 Prince Street where the Incident took place.  In addition, the Multi-Markout Form 

mistakenly indicates that 126 Prince Street Needham had an outside meter set, when it was in 

fact an inside meter set.  Further, the Multi-Markout Form falsely suggests that the locator 

gained inside access to the meter within the house, however, it was later revealed that all 

markouts were performed outside the residence.  

OM-150 Section F states: “Additional markings are required where there are changes of 

direction and terminus points of the facility.”  The Eversource Incident Analysis Report 
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provides, however, that “[a]dditional markings indicating the change of direction were not 

observed on the lawn that paralleled the side of the house.” 

OM-150 also states:  “When, as a result of a locate request, a Company designee 

becomes aware of gas facilities which are missing or not properly depicted in GIS or other 

records, a sketch or description of the change to the facility, with accurate measurements, shall 

be sent to Mapping, by the Locator or Supervisor and will provide in accordance with company 

procedures Emergency tickets OM-050, Mapping and ADM.”  The Eversource Incident Analysis 

Report states that Eversource was made aware of the discrepancies between the service card and 

the markings by Devereaux personnel on October 4, 2023.  Nevertheless, Eversource did not 

update the service card prior to the Incident on November 4, 2023.  Further, the Devereaux 

foreman neither recognized nor responded to the inaccurate Multi-Markout Form in accordance 

with WP-OP-108. 

OM-150 also requires that “[r]enewal requests [for Dig Safe tickets] should be handled in 

a manner similar to a first-time notification.  Any discussions with the Excavator will be 

documented in the database…”  Eversource called in a Dig Safe ticket for the first time on 

September 7, 2023.  Eversource made renewal requests for Dig Safe tickets on October 2, 2023 

and October 26, 2023.  Nevertheless, Devereaux did not document that it conducted any 

additional markouts on the Multi-Markout Form after September 5, 2023.  In response to an 

information request, Eversource stated: “Eversource did not find confirmation of any additional 

mark outs occurring between the initial mark out and the day of the incident.” 

B. Equipment Calibration 

Throughout this project, Devereaux used a Vivax Metrotech 810 Utility Locator to locate 

the facilities within the neighborhood.  Eversource provided the Division its equipment log 
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calibration sheets from Devereaux, identifying that the Vivax Metrotech 810 with serial number 

21302151499 was the tool used.  This equipment calibration log shows a record of the equipment 

being calibrated every Tuesday from August 22, 2023, through October 24, 2023.  Eversource’s 

procedure OM-440-ADM states that calibrations shall be based on the manufacturer’s 

recommendation.  VM-810/850 Pipe and Cable Locator User Handbook states: “The centerline, 

signal strength, and depth of your VM-810/VM-850 receiver have been calibrated to factory 

specified tolerances.  It is to your advantage to monitor the performance of your VM-810/VM-

850 receiver on a weekly basis.”  There are no calibration records between Tuesday October 24, 

2023, and the day of the Incident, Saturday November 4, 2023.  It is a concern that excavator 

submitted a history of equipment calibration for every Tuesday of every week up until the week 

of the Incident.  The week of the incident there are no records.   

C. Drug and Alcohol Testing 

Eversource’s procedure for drug and alcohol testing post-accident is set forth in PS-199 

Gas Pipeline Safety Drug and Alcohol Testing Plan (“PS-199”).2  Section “XV. Alcohol Tests” 

of PS-199 states that alcohol testing shall be conducted after any accident where a contractor’s 

performance of a covered function either contributed to the accident or cannot be completely 

 
2  Accident is defined under PS-199 as: (1) An event that involves a release of gas from a 

pipeline, or of liquefied natural gas, or gas from an LNG facility, and that results in one 
or more of the following consequences: (i) A death, or personal injury necessitating in-
patient hospitalization; (ii) Estimated property damage of $129,300 or more, including 
loss to the operator and others, or both, but excluding cost of gas lost; (iii) Unintentional 
estimated gas loss of three million cubic feet or more; (2) An event that results in an 
emergency shutdown of an LNG facility. Activation of an emergency shutdown system 
for reasons other than an actual emergency does not constitute an incident. (3) An event 
that is significant in the judgment of the operator, even though it did not meet the criteria 
of paragraphs (1) or (2) of this definition. 
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discounted as a contributing factor to the accident.  PS-199 states that the “testing should be 

conducted as soon as practicable following the accident, but an injury should be treated first.”  

PS-199 also provides that if an alcohol test cannot be conducted within two hours following the 

accident, then the reasons for the delay must be documented and maintained on file.  PS-199 

further provides that if an alcohol test cannot be conducted within eight hours following the 

accident, then attempts to administer the test shall cease to be conducted and reasons for the 

failure to test shall be documented and maintained on file.  Eversource did not conduct alcohol 

testing for any of the Devereaux crew within either the requisite two-hour timeframe or the 

eight-hour time frame.  Eversource provided records showing that the Devereaux crew who were 

involved in the Incident were tested for alcohol at AFC Urgent Care between 3:55 p.m. and 4:20 

p.m. on November 4, 2023, the day of the incident.  Therefore, alcohol testing was not conducted 

until more than eight hours after the accident, in conflict with PS-199, which requires that 

attempts to administer the test cease and the reasons for the failure to test be documented.  In 

addition, Eversource failed to provide documentation showing the reasons for the failure to test 

within two hours, as required by PS-199. 

IV. SUMMARY OF FINDINGS  

 Devereaux, acting on behalf of Eversource, failed to accurately mark out the 

service line prior to the Incident.   

 Eversource, when notified that the service card was inaccurate, failed to correct 

the maps and records of the service.   

 Devereaux used mechanical means to excavate without visual confirmation of the 

service and tolerance zone.   
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 Eversource failed to ensure that Devereaux properly calibrated the electronic 

markout equipment after October 24, 2023. 

 Eversource failed to execute alcohol testing per its own accident investigation 

standards. 

V. CONCLUSION 

Based on the Division’s review of all relevant information, the Division finds that the 

combination of incomplete markouts, inaccurate records, and a failure to comply with relevant 

procedures contributed to the Devereaux crew striking the active service and the resulting home 

explosion.  The Division also concludes Eversource violated federal pipeline safety regulations, 

and state damage prevention laws and regulations, as follows: 

 49 C.F.R § 192.13(c) - What general requirements apply to pipelines regulated under 
this part? 

 49 C.F.R. § 192.605(a) - Procedural manual for operations, maintenance, and 
emergencies. 

 49 C.F.R. § 192.614(a) - Damage prevention program. 
 G.L. c. 82 § 40B: Designation of Location of Underground Facilities 
 220 CMR 99.06(1): Marking Procedures 
 220 CMR 99.03(1): Premarking 
 49 C.F.R § 199.225(a) - Alcohol tests required. 

 
Additionally, the Division concludes that Devereaux failed to maintain the designation 

marking of underground facilities, as required by G.L. c. 82, § 40C and 220 CMR 99.07(4), 

failed to request remarking due to the obliteration, destruction, or other removal of such 

markings, as required by G.L. c. 82, § 40C and 220 CMR 99.07(4), and failed to perform the 

excavation using non-mechanical means and failed to employ reasonable precautions to avoid 

damage to the underground facilities, as required by G.L. c. 82, § 40C and 220 CMR 99.07(3).   



EXHIBIT 1 

Eversource Report to Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration dated December 
4, 2023 





























 
 

EXHIBIT 2 
 

Eversource Incident Analysis Report 
 
 
 
 

  









































 
 

EXHIBIT 3 
 

Eversource Dig Safe Violation Report, D.P.U. 23-DS-1260U 
  



Incident Information

Street Address: City or Town:

Dig Safe Ticket Number:Does a Dig Safe Ticket Number Exist?:

Date of Incident: Time of Incident:

When was the incident reported to operator and by whom?:

Describe how the damage occurred:

126 Prince Street

11/04/2023

During a planned service line replacement, a second party
contractor, Robert J Deveraux Corp., working for 
Eversource, hit a service line causing an ignition and 
house fire. Robert J Devereaux Corp was responsible for 
the mark-outs associated with this project. On November 
4, the original marks in the public way showing the service 
line from the service tee to the property line at the left side 
of the property were visible and accurate. There were no 
visible markings or flags on the private property. The crew 
was mechanically excavating the trench for the new 
service on the private property when they struck the active

steel service. 

NEEDHAM

07:48 AM

20234311452

Needham Fire Department reported to Eversource 
Dispatch at 7:58AM

Yes

General Information

Submit Date: Reporting party:

Employer:

Mailing Address:

Contact person:

Phone Number: Extension:

Email Address:

12/01/2023

Patrick O'Sullivan

Operator/Utility

NSTAR Gas

843 Hyde Park Ave Hyde Park MA 02136

Alleged Violation(s)

DIG SAFE VIOLATION / DAMAGE REPORT
One South Station, Boston, MA 02110

(617) 305-3570   Email:  DPU.DamagePrevention@mass.gov

Underground facility not marked.

Yes

Failed to perform the excavation using non-mechanical means and/or failed to employ reasonable precautions to 
avoid damage when excavating in close proximity to the underground facilities within the located safety zone

Yes

Marks lost or not maintained.

Yes

No Dig Safe ticket or invalid Dig Safe ticket. If invalid, explain why below.

No

U d d f ilit i d t l i tl k d

Docket Number: 23-DS-1260U



Facility Type:

Facility Owner:

Installation Year:

Facility damaged is :

Facility Description :

Facility Depth: Excavation Depth:

Gas

Service

NSTAR Gas

1963

19 inches

 psi steel

Excavator Information

Company Name:

Phone Number:

City:State:

Company Address:

Zip:

R.J. Devereaux Corporation

10 Emerson Place #2E

02114

BOSTONMASSACHUSETTS

Crew Supervisor: Dan Drummey Phone Number:

Name of Person Who Caused Damage:

Anthony Moran

Hoisting License Number: Title:

Foreman/Operator

Excavator Phone Number: Excavator Email Address:

Facility is on : Private Way

Facility Information

Excavation area not pre-marked.

No

Other

No

Other Damage Facility Type:

Other Facility Type:

Other Company Name:

Description of Other Alleged 
Violation:

Explanation for Invalid Dig Safe Ticket:

Installation Depth:





Notes

Excavator/Operator’s internal damage report

No

Witness Statements

No

Any written correspondence (i.e., memos, letters, emails, texts) regarding the damage

No

Records demonstrating accurate markout, including markout completion details/ticket history

No

Records of any conversation/agreement between operator and excavator

No

Notes/Additional Observations

No



 
 

EXHIBIT 4 
   

R.J. Devereaux Dig Safe Violation Report, D.P.U. 23-DS-1260E 
  



Incident Information

Street Address: City or Town:

Dig Safe Ticket Number:Does a Dig Safe Ticket Number Exist?:

Date of Incident: Time of Incident:

When was the incident reported to operator and by whom?:

Describe how the damage occurred:

17 Prince Street

11/04/2023

A Robert J. Devereaux Corp gas crew was conducting a 
service relay to 17 Prince Street, Needham MA on 
11/4/23. After exposing the existing main and completing 
the trench excavation in the street, the foreman operator 
and laborer moved to the side of the property. The laborer 
hand excavated next to the foundation and the foreman / 
operator stated excavating by mechanical means. The 
existing service line was not properly located before using 
mechanical means and the line was damaged by the 
excavator. There was an uncontrolled release of gas 
inside the basement, which lead to a subsequent ignition 
and house fire. Please see the attached Incident Analysis 
for all information regarding this incident. 

NEEDHAM

07:50 AM

20234311452

The incident was reported immediately from our operator 
to all appropriate personnel and agencies (DPU was on-
site)

Yes

General Information

Submit Date: Reporting party:

Employer:

Mailing Address:

Contact person:

Phone Number: Extension:

Email Address:

01/18/2024

Timothy Johnson

Excavator

Robert J. Devereaux Corporation 

17 Pleasant Street, Malden MA 02148

Alleged Violation(s)

DIG SAFE VIOLATION / DAMAGE REPORT
One South Station, Boston, MA 02110

(617) 305-3570   Email:  DPU.DamagePrevention@mass.gov

Failed to perform the excavation using non-mechanical means and/or failed to employ reasonable precautions to 
avoid damage when excavating in close proximity to the underground facilities within the located safety zone

Yes

No Dig Safe ticket or invalid Dig Safe ticket. If invalid, explain why below.

No

Underground facility not marked.

No

Underground facility inadequately or incorrectly marked.

Docket Number: 23-DS-1260E



Facility Type:

Facility Owner:

Installation Year:

Facility damaged is :

Facility Description :

Facility Depth: Excavation Depth:

Gas

Service

Eversource Gas

1963

18"

 Coated Steel Gas Service

Excavator Information

Company Name:

Phone Number:

City:State:

Company Address:

Zip:

R.J. Devereaux Corporation

17 Pleasant Street

02148

MALDENMASSACHUSETTS

Crew Supervisor: Daniel Drummey Phone Number:

Name of Person Who Caused Damage:

Anthony Moran

Hoisting License Number: Title:

Forman / Operator

Excavator Phone Number: Excavator Email Address:

Facility is on : Private Way

Facility Information

Excavation area not pre-marked.

No

Other

No

Other Damage Facility Type:

Other Facility Type:

Other Company Name:

Description of Other Alleged 
Violation:

Explanation for Invalid Dig Safe Ticket:

Installation Depth:





Notes

Please see the attached Robert J. Devereaux Corp Incident Analysis with all information and follow up actions regarding 
this incident. 

Map Record (Original and Updated)

Yes

Photos/videos of the incident/damage (with the date and time stamp if possible)

Yes

A copy of the Dig Safe ticket for this excavation

No

Repair Work order

No

Records of any conversation/agreement between operator and excavator

No



 
 

EXHIBIT 5 
   

R.J. Devereaux Incident Analysis Report 
  

























































































































































 
 

EXHIBIT 6 
   

Pipeline Safety Division Dig Safe Violation Report, D.P.U. 23-DS-1260I 
  



Incident Information

Street Address: City or Town:

Dig Safe Ticket Number:Does a Dig Safe Ticket Number Exist?:

Date of Incident: Time of Incident:

When was the incident reported to operator and by whom?:

Describe how the damage occurred:

126 Prince St

11/04/2023

RJ Devereaux crew excavating on Dig Safe ticket 
20234311452 to install new service to 126 Prince St 
Needham. Crew struck active service with machinery 
while excavating the trench for the new service to be 
installed. Service pulled from the inside meter set with a 
release of gas, causing ignition. RJ Devereaux crews had 
access to Eversource service cards and mapping of 
mains and services for this project. RJ Devereaux 
performed the mark out of facilities in the area previous to 
excavation. The physical service location where the 
incident occurred was not properly identified before 
excavation with mechanical means

NEEDHAM

07:50 AM

20234311452

Reported by RJ Devereaux to 911 at 0752

Yes

General Information

Submit Date: Reporting party:

Employer:

Mailing Address:

Contact person:

Phone Number: Extension:

Email Address:

02/14/2024

Matthew MacInnis

Inspector

DPU

1 South Station

Alleged Violation(s)

DIG SAFE VIOLATION / DAMAGE REPORT
One South Station, Boston, MA 02110

(617) 305-3570   Email:  DPU.DamagePrevention@mass.gov

Underground facility inadequately or incorrectly marked.

Yes

Marks lost or not maintained.

Yes

Failed to perform the excavation using non-mechanical means and/or failed to employ reasonable precautions to 
avoid damage when excavating in close proximity to the underground facilities within the located safety zone

Yes

No Dig Safe ticket or invalid Dig Safe ticket. If invalid, explain why below.

No

Underground facility not marked.

Docket Number: 23-DS-1260I



Facility Type:

Facility Owner:

Installation Year:

Facility damaged is :

Facility Description :

Facility Depth: Excavation Depth:

Gas

Service

Eversource Gas

1963

19"

 ST

Excavator Information

Company Name:

Phone Number:

City:State:

Company Address:

Zip:

R.J. Devereaux Corporation

17 Pleasant Street

02148

MALDENMASSACHUSETTS

Crew Supervisor: Daniel Drummey Phone Number:

Name of Person Who Caused Damage:

Anthony Moran

Hoisting License Number: Title:

DVX Crew Leader / Operator

Excavator Phone Number: Excavator Email Address:

Facility is on : Private Way

Facility Information

Excavation area not pre-marked.

No

Other

No

Other Damage Facility Type:

Other Facility Type:

Other Company Name:

Description of Other Alleged 
Violation:

Explanation for Invalid Dig Safe Ticket:

Installation Depth:





Notes

RJ Devereaux (DVX) crew excavating to install new services and mains along Prince St Needham. While excavating trench 
to install new service to 126 Prince St Needham, DVX crew struck the live service causing it to pull from the inside meter 
set with a release of gas resulting in an ignition. DVX had access to all Eversource mapping and records and were in 
charge of marking out the facilities for this project. On the day of the incident, DVX did not physically locate the active 
service and began excavation in the area where the facility was buried. DVX machinery directly struck the gas service. 
Crew called 911, evacuated the house, shut of the gas at the curb, and cleared the incident area. Eversource, Fire Marshal, 
DPU, OSHA, among the parties on site. DPU reported on site the day of the incident 11.04.23 and returned for the 
investigation on 11.07.23. The day of the investigation Eversource performed markouts per the service card, followed by 
direct connect and then excavated to reveal the actual location of the service to compare the accuracy of the markouts. 
Evidence of service piece collected held onto by Eversource personnel 

Additional ongoing information in DPU Pipeline Database Inspection 6336

Repair Work order

No

Records demonstrating accurate markout, including markout completion details/ticket history

No

Facility History Records/Service Cards (at time of markout and after repair has been made)

No

Map Record (Original and Updated)

No

Records of any conversation/agreement between operator and excavator

No

Notes/Additional Observations

No



 
 

EXHIBIT 7 
   
D.P.U. 23-PL-64, NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy Notice of Probable Violation 
  



THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC UTILITIES

MAURA T. HEALEY
GOVERNOR

KIMBERLEY DRISCOLL
LIEUTENANT GOVERNOR

REBECCA L. TEPPER
SECRETARY OF ENERGY

AND ENVIRONMENTAL AFFAIRS

ONE SOUTH STATION
BOSTON, MA 02110

(617) 305-3500

JAMES VAN NOSTRAND
CHAIR

CECILE M. FRASER
COMMISSIONER

STACI RUBIN
COMMISSIONER

FAX: (617) 478-2589
www.mass.gov/dpu

NOTICE OF PROBABLE VIOLATION
ELECTRONIC MAIL – RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

July 11, 2024 D.P.U. 23-PL-64

VIA EMAIL ONLY

William J. Akley
President of Gas Operations
Eversource Energy  
157 Cordaville Road
Southborough, MA 01772

Re:  D.P.U. 23-PL-64, 126 Prince Street, Needham (November 4, 2023)

Dear Mr. Akley:

The Pipeline Safety Division (“Division”) of the Department of Public Utilities 

(“Department”) issues this Notice of Probable Violation (“NOPV”) to NSTAR Gas Company 

d/b/a Eversource Energy (“Eversource” or “Respondent”) pursuant to 220 CMR 69.03 and 

Delegation Order, D.P.U. 18-44-B (2020).

On November 4, 2023, the Division responded to a report of a gas-related reportable 

incident (“Incident”), as defined in 49 C.F.R. § 191.3, at the Eversource facilities at 126 Prince 

Street, Needham.  R.J. Devereaux Corporation (“Devereaux”), a contractor for Eversource, 
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struck a gas service with machinery resulting in a house fire.  The Division began an 

investigation pursuant to G.L. c.164, §§ 76 and 105A, and 220 CMR 69.02 on the day of the 

Incident that included incident response and a review of applicable Eversource and Devereaux 

records. 

On December 8, 2023, the Division issued an initial set of information requests to 

Eversource related to the Division’s investigation of the Incident.  Eversource responded to the 

information requests on January 19, 2023 and February 1, 2024.  As part of its response to these 

information requests, Eversource provided an incident analysis report related to its investigation 

of the Incident and recommendations (“Eversource Incident Analysis Report”).  On December 1, 

2023, Eversource submitted a Dig Safe Violation Report, (“DSVR”) 23-DS-1260U, to the 

Division with accompanying documents.  On January 18, 2024, Devereaux submitted a DSVR, 

23-DS-1260E, to the Division with its own incident analysis report (“Devereaux Incident 

Analysis Report”).  Additionally, the Division submitted a DSVR, 23-DS-1260I, on February 14, 

2024 with accompanying documents.  As discussed in detail below, the Division conducted 

further investigation into the matter and has reason to believe that Respondent may have violated 

49 C.F.R. Part 192 (“Part 192”), 49 C.F.R. Part 199 (“Part 199”), Massachusetts General Laws 

G.L. c. 82 § 40B, and Massachusetts regulations 220 CMR 99.00. 

I. OVERVIEW OF PROJECT, INCIDENT, AND INVESTIGATION 

On Saturday November 4, 2023, at approximately 9:00 a.m., the Division received a 

Telephonic Incident Notification that an excavator struck a gas service resulting in an ignition 

inside a building at 126 Prince Street, Needham.  The Division responded to the location of the 

Incident and discovered that Devereaux was working as a contractor for Eversource to install a 
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new gas service at the residence.  While excavating along the side of 126 Prince Street at 

approximately 7:45 a.m., a Devereaux crew member struck the active steel service with an 

excavator.  At the time of the Incident, the service fed an inside meter set.  The hit service line 

resulted in a release of gas and ignition within the residence.  One Devereaux crew member 

sustained injuries requiring treatment at a nearby hospital, and the house was demolished on the 

day of the Incident.  

Eversource hired Devereaux as a contractor for a project to relay mains and services at 

and around Prince Street, Needham.  Devereaux was contractually responsible for locating 

facilities within the proposed work area.  On September 7, 2023, a Dig Safe Ticket was called in 

for work to be performed along Prince Street and the scope of work included the area from the 

street to the houses.  On September 5, 2023, a locator employed by Devereaux performed a 

markout at 126 Prince Street.  Devereaux had access to Eversource’s maps and records for the 

project.  The Eversource Incident Analysis Report provides that the “locator stated he performed 

a conductive markout by connecting the locating equipment to the regulator vent line and marked 

out the residence with marker flags and paint.”  According to the Devereaux Incident Analysis 

Report, in an interview after the Incident, the locator reported that he did not go into the 

basement, but he direct connected his markout equipment to the vent coming out of the basement 

and the equipment produced a “strong signal.”  When the locator went to verify his marks with 

the service card for 126 Prince Street, it did not match.  This discrepancy was noted on the 



Eversource, D.P.U. 23-PL-64  Page 4 
Notice of Probable Violation 
July 11, 2024  
 
multiple markout form dated September 5, 2023 (“Multi-Markout Form”).1  The locator then left 

126 Prince Street and went to 140 Prince Street.  When the locator started working on 140 Prince 

Street, he identified the differences in the service cards and property locations in reference to 

Kerrydale Road.  The Devereaux Incident Analysis Report provides that the locator then “went 

back to 126 Prince Street with one of the service cards from 140 Prince Street and some of the 

measurements near the street seemed to match.”  The locator noted on the Multi-Markout Form 

that a test hole was necessary for both 126 Prince Street and 140 Prince Street.   

On September 8, 2023, three days after the locator completed the markout, pre-

excavation photographs were taken by Devereaux.  These pre-excavation photographs show that 

while the main on Prince Street and service at the front of the yard of 126 Prince Street was 

marked with flags and paint, there were no flags or markings on the side yard of 126 Prince 

Street where the service was struck and damaged on the day of the Incident.  On October 2, 2023 

Dig Safe Ticket 2023361025 was renewed for the Prince Street project and assigned Dig Safe 

Ticket No. 20234001382.   

On October 4, 2023, the locator, a Devereaux foreman, and an Eversource inspector 

reviewed the Multi-Markout Form.  The locator explained the discrepancy between the marks on 

the ground and the service card at 126 Prince Street.  The Eversource Incident Analysis Report 

provides: “The service card indicated the service was at a 45-degree angle to the front of the 

house and followed by another 45-degree angle running parallel to the side of the house, with a 

 
1  Notably, the Multi-Markout Form reflected that the meter was outside, even though the 

meter was inside the basement.  The Multi-Markout Form also reflected that the locator 
gained access to the meter.   
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final 90-degree angle leading into the house.  The marks on the driveway showed a 90-degree 

angle running parallel to the front of the house, followed by a 90-degree angle parallel to the side 

of the house.”  On October 4, 2023, the foreman completed a test hole where the trench for the 

new main would cross the existing service and its location was verified in the street at the 

existing main.  Following the Incident, the foreman claimed that he direct connected to the tee in 

the street to identify the service.  Neither the Eversource inspector nor the Devereaux foreman 

walked around 126 Prince Street to confirm the presence of flags on the side of the house on 

October 4, 2023.  On October 26, 2023, the Dig Safe ticket was renewed again and assigned 

Ticket No. 20234311452.   

On November 4, 2023, the Division conducted a series of individual interviews with the 

three members of the Devereaux crew who were on scene at the time of the Incident.  From 

approximately 6:45 a.m. to 7:15 a.m., the Devereaux crew arrived at 126 Prince Street, went over 

the job brief for the day, walked the job site, and prepared their work for the day.  At 

approximately 7:25 a.m., the foreman began to excavate a trench within the street where the new 

service would be installed.  The foreman was acting as the machine operator on the day of the 

Incident.  Simultaneously, a laborer began to hand excavate alongside the side of the house and 

foundation where the new service was to be installed.  The laborer did not expose the existing 

active steel gas service or confirm its location at this time.  When the street excavation was 

completed, the foreman continued machine excavation along the side of the house where the 

laborer was hand digging.  The Devereaux crew reported that by looking at the service card, no 

machine excavation was expected to cross over the active service.  The Eversource Incident 
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Analysis Report provides: “The foreman and laborer stated there was a yellow markout flag 

behind the condenser pad.  Based on the location of the flag, the foreman believed they were 

outside of the tolerance zone and the crew proceeded to mechanically excavate the trench.” 

At approximately 7:45 a.m., the Devereaux crew struck the active gas service with the 

excavator causing gas to release.  The Eversource Incident Analysis Report reads: “The foreman 

felt a tug as the machine was being operated to excavate.  The laborer then started to hand-dig to 

locate the impacted object.  The laborer told the foreman that he could hear blowing gas.”  At 

that time, it was believed that the gas leak was outside of the residence where the machinery 

struck the service.  The Devereaux crew attempted to shut off the gas at the curb valve but was 

unable to because they did not have the proper valve key.   

While the laborer was still attempting to locate the service, the house ignited at 

approximately 7:51 a.m.  The laborer was injured at this time and treated at the hospital before 

returning to the site.  Immediately after the ignition, the Devereaux crew sought to evacuate any 

residents from the home.  Police were notified and fire trucks arrived on scene at approximately 

7:58 a.m.  First responders and the Devereaux crew learned that there were no residents or 

animals inside the home.  The Devereaux crew underwent Drug and Alcohol testing at AFC 

Urgent Care located at 370 Providence Highway, Dedham, between 3:55 p.m. and 4:20 p.m. on 

the day of the Incident.  

On November 7, 2023, the Division returned to 126 Prince Street, Needham, along with 

Eversource, Devereaux, the Massachusetts State Police, and other parties.  At this time, the home 

had been demolished with the service line still in place.  During this inspection, the utility line 
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was marked out true to the service card.  Further, the service was marked out via indirect 

locating, direct locating, as well as physically revealed through vacuum excavation.  Locating the 

facility confirmed that the service line’s actual location differed from what the service card 

indicated.  Eversource’s service card for 126 Prince Street Needham was inaccurate and was not 

updated after October 4, 2023. 

II. FINDINGS 

Damage Prevention: 

Eversource’s Operations & Maintenance Plan OM-150 entitled “Damage Prevention and 

Markout of Gas Facilities” (“OM-150”) lays out procedures to be followed in preparation for 

excavation to avoid damage to gas facilities.  OM-150 Section IV. A. entitled “Requests on 

Behalf of Eversource Gas (Massachusetts)” requires Eversource to “[e]nsure that the proposed 

area of excavation is premarked according to means deemed acceptable under state regulations.”  

Eversource pre-excavation photos and on-site investigation do not yield any evidence that the 

proposed work area was premarked in accordance with 220 CMR 99.03).   

The Dig Safe tickets for this project identify that Eversource and Devereaux will be 

relaying mains and services in the street to the houses along Prince Street.  OM-150 also states: 

“For excavations by, or on behalf, of Eversource Gas, all gas facilities within the scope of the DS 

ticket shall be located, marked out and actions taken and recorded in accordance with this 

procedure.”  The Multi-Markout Form authored by Devereaux personnel dated September 5, 

2023, states that the excavation area was marked with both paint and flags.  Pre-excavation 

photographs dated September 8, 2023 provided in response to information requests show that 

there were no service markings or flags on the side of 126 Prince Street where the Incident took 
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place.  In addition, the Multi-Markout Form indicates that 126 Prince Street Needham had an 

outside meter set, when it was in fact an inside meter set.  Further, the Multi-Markout Form 

suggests that the locator gained inside access to the meter within the house, while it was later 

revealed that all markouts were performed from outside the residence.  

OM-150 Section F states: “Additional markings are required where there are changes of 

direction and terminus points of the facility.”  The Eversource Incident Analysis Report 

provides, however, that “[a]dditional markings indicating the change of direction were not 

observed on the lawn that paralleled the side of the house.” 

OM-150 also states as follows:  “When, as a result of a locate request, a Company 

designee becomes aware of gas facilities which are missing or not properly depicted in GIS or 

other records, a sketch or description of the change to the facility, with accurate measurements, 

shall be sent to Mapping, by the Locator or Supervisor and will provide in accordance with 

company procedures Emergency tickets OM-050, Mapping and ADM.”  The Eversource 

Incident Analysis Report states that Eversource was made aware of the discrepancies between 

the service card and the markings by Devereaux personnel on October 4, 2023.  Nevertheless, 

there was no change to the service card as of the day of the Incident on November 4, 2023.  

Further, the Devereaux foreman neither recognized nor responded to the inaccurate Multi-

Markout Form in accordance with WP-OP-108. 

OM-150 also requires that “[r]enewal requests [for Dig Safe tickets] should be handled in 

a manner similar to a first-time notification.  Any discussions with the Excavator will be 

documented in the database…”  The first time a Dig Safe ticket was called in was on September 
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7, 2023.  Renewal requests for Dig Safe tickets were made on October 2, 2023 and October 26, 

2023.  Nevertheless, no additional markouts were conducted at 126 Prince Street after September 

5, 2023, according to the Multi-Markout Form.  In response to an information request, 

Eversource stated: “Eversource did not find confirmation of any additional mark outs occurring 

between the initial mark out and the day of the incident.” 

Devereaux, acting on behalf of Eversource, failed to accurately mark out the service line 

prior to the Incident.  Eversource, when notified that the service card was inaccurate, failed to 

correct the maps and records of the service.  As the Eversource Incident Analysis Report 

provides, “[r]emarking of the excavation was not requested by the foreman as required per WP-

108.”  Devereaux used mechanical means to excavate without visual confirmation of the service 

and tolerance zone.  The combination of incomplete markouts, inaccurate records, and a failure 

to comply with procedures contributed to the Devereaux crew striking the active service and the 

resulting home explosion. 

Equipment Calibration: 

Throughout this project, Devereaux used a Vivax Metrotech 810 Utility Locator to locate 

the facilities within the neighborhood.  Eversource provided the Division its equipment log 

calibration sheets from Devereaux in response to information requests, identifying that the Vivax 

Metrotech 810 with serial number 21302151499 was the tool used.  This equipment calibration 

log shows a record of the equipment being calibrated every Tuesday from August 22, 2023, 

through October 24, 2023.  Eversource’s procedure OM-440-ADM states that calibrations shall 

be based on the manufacturer’s recommendation.  VM-810/850 Pipe and Cable Locator User 
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Handbook states: “The centerline, signal strength, and depth of your VM-810/VM-850 receiver 

have been calibrated to factory specified tolerances.  It is to your advantage to monitor the 

performance of your VM-810/VM-850 receiver on a weekly basis.”  There are no calibration 

records between Tuesday October 24, 2023, and the day of the Incident, Saturday November 4, 

2023.  It is a concern that excavator submitted a history of equipment calibration for every 

Tuesday of every week up until the week of the Incident.  The week of the incident there are no 

records.   

Drug and Alcohol Testing: 

Eversource’s procedure for drug and alcohol testing post-accident is set forth in PS-199 

Gas Pipeline Safety Drug and Alcohol Testing Plan (“PS-199”).2  Section “XV. Alcohol Tests” 

of PS-199 states that alcohol testing shall be conducted after any accident where a contractor’s 

performance of a covered function either contributed to the accident or cannot be completely 

discounted as a contributing factor to the accident.  PS-199 states that the “testing should be 

conducted as soon as practicable following the accident, but an injury should be treated first.”  

PS-199 also provides that if an alcohol test cannot be conducted within two hours following the 

 
2  Accident is defined under PS-199 as: (1) An event that involves a release of gas from a 

pipeline, or of liquefied natural gas, or gas from an LNG facility, and that results in one 
or more of the following consequences: (i) A death, or personal injury necessitating in-
patient hospitalization; (ii) Estimated property damage of $129,300 or more, including 
loss to the operator and others, or both, but excluding cost of gas lost; (iii) Unintentional 
estimated gas loss of three million cubic feet or more; (2) An event that results in an 
emergency shutdown of an LNG facility. Activation of an emergency shutdown system 
for reasons other than an actual emergency does not constitute an incident. (3) An event 
that is significant in the judgment of the operator, even though it did not meet the criteria 
of paragraphs (1) or (2) of this definition. 
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accident, then the reasons for the delay must be documented and maintained on file.  PS-199 

further provides that if an alcohol test cannot be conducted within eight hours following the 

accident, then attempts to administer the test shall cease to be conducted and reasons for the 

failure to test shall be documented and maintained on file.  Eversource did not conduct alcohol 

testing for any of the Devereaux crew within either the requisite two-hour timeframe or the 

eight-hour time frame.  Records received from Eversource in response to information requests 

show that the Devereaux crew who were involved in the Incident were tested for alcohol at AFC 

Urgent Care between 3:55 p.m. and 4:20 p.m. on November 4, 2023, the day of the incident.  

Therefore, alcohol testing was conducted more than eight hours after the accident, in conflict 

with PS-199, which requires that attempts to administer the test cease and the reasons for the 

failure to test be documented.  In addition, the Division received no documentation from 

Eversource showing the reasons for the failure to test within two hours, as required by PS-199, in 

response to information requests. 

III. ALLEGATIONS 

The following allegations highlight the findings identified within the investigation.  

Based on the investigation, the Division has reason to believe that Respondent’s failure to (1) 

properly identify the location of the gas service, (2) properly calibrate the electronic markout 

equipment after October 24, 2023, and (3) execute alcohol testing per accident investigation 

standards, may be in violation of certain sections of its procedures, federal pipeline safety 

regulations, Part 192, Part 199, Massachusetts General Laws, c. 82, and Massachusetts 

Regulations, 220 CMR 99.00.  The alleged violations are as follows:   
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1. 49 C.F.R § 192.13(c) - What general requirements apply to pipelines 
regulated under this part? 

Each operator shall maintain, modify as appropriate, and follow the plans, 
procedures, and programs that it is required to establish under this part.  

 
2. 49 C.F.R. § 192.605(a) - Procedural manual for operations, maintenance, 

and emergencies. 

General.  Each operator shall prepare and follow for each pipeline, a manual of 
written procedures for conducting operations and maintenance activities and for 
emergency response.  For transmission lines, the manual must also include 
procedures for handling abnormal operations.  This manual must be reviewed and 
updated by the operator at intervals not exceeding 15 months, but at least once 
each calendar year. This manual must be prepared before operations of a pipeline 
system commence.  Appropriate parts of the manual must be kept at locations 
where operations and maintenance activities are conducted.  
 
3. 49 C.F.R. § 192.614(a) - Damage prevention program. 

Except as provided in paragraphs (d) and (e) of this section, each operator of a 
buried pipeline must carry out, in accordance with this section, a written program 
to prevent damage to that pipeline from excavation activities. For the purposes of 
this section, the term “excavation activities” includes excavation, blasting, boring, 
tunneling, backfilling, the removal of aboveground structures by either explosive 
or mechanical means, and other earthmoving operations. 
 
4. G.L. c. 82 § 40B: Designation of location of underground facilities 

Within 72 hours, exclusive of Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays, from the 
time the initial notice is received by the system or at such time as the company 
and the excavator or professional land surveyor agree, such company shall 
respond to the initial notice or subsequent notice by designating the location of 
the underground facilities within 15 feet in any direction of the premarking so that 
the existing facilities are to be found within a safety zone. Such safety zone shall 
be so designated by the use of standard color-coded markings. The providing of 
such designation by the company shall constitute prima facie evidence of an 
exercise of reasonable precaution by the company as required by this section; 
provided, however, that in the event that the excavator or professional land 
surveyor has given notice as aforesaid at a location at which because of the length 
of excavation the company cannot reasonably designate the entire location of its 
facilities within such 72 hour period, then such excavator or professional land 
surveyor shall identify for the company that portion of the excavation which is to 
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be first made and the company shall designate the location of its facilities in such 
portion within 72 hours and shall designate the location of its facilities in the 
remaining portion of the location within a reasonable time thereafter. When an 
emergency notification has been given to the system, the company shall make 
every attempt to designate its facilities as promptly as possible. A company shall 
conduct periodic audits to ensure: (i) the accuracy of the designated location and 
marking of its facilities; and (ii) its adherence to marking standards. 

 
5. 220 CMR 99.06(1): Marking Procedures 

Within 72 hours, exclusive of Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays, from the 
time initial notice is received by the Dig Safe Center, every company shall mark 
the location of an underground facility by applying a visible marking material, 
such as paint, on the ground above the facility. The company may use an 
alternative marking method of color-coded stakes, color-coded flags or color-
coded brush-type markers. 

6. 220 CMR 99.03(1): Premarking 

An excavator shall premark an excavation site before giving notice of the 
excavation to the Dig Safe Center. 

7. 49 C.F.R § 199.225(a) - Alcohol tests required. 

Each operator must conduct the following types of alcohol tests for the presence 
of alcohol:  

(a) Post-accident.  

(1) As soon as practicable following an accident, each operator must test each 
surviving covered employee for alcohol if that employee's performance of a 
covered function either contributed to the accident or cannot be completely 
discounted as a contributing factor to the accident.  The decision not to administer 
a test under this section must be based on specific information that the covered 
employee's performance had no role in the cause(s) or severity of the accident.  

(2) (i) If a test required by this section is not administered within 2 hours 
following the accident, the operator shall prepare and maintain on file a record 
stating the reasons the test was not promptly administered.  If a test required by 
paragraph (a) is not administered within 8 hours following the accident, the 
operator shall cease attempts to administer an alcohol test and shall state in the 
record the reasons for not administering the test. 
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IV. PRIOR CONSENT ORDER VIOLATIONS 

Eversource has signed the following Consent Orders that pertain to similar violations of 

Part 192, § 192.614 and/or G.L. c. 82 § 40B:  D.P.U. 22-PL-68; 21-DS-536U; 21-DS-887U; 22-

DS-0938; and 23-DS-0151U. 

V. PROPOSED CIVIL PENALTY 

Under G.L. c. 164, § 105A, Eversource is subject to a civil penalty not to exceed 

$500,000 for each violation for each day that the violation exists, up to a maximum of 

$10,000,000 for any related series of violations.  These dollar amounts shall be doubled if the 

department determines that the violator has engaged in one or more similar violations in the 

three years preceding the violation. 

In determining the amount of the civil penalty, the Division shall consider the following, 

pursuant to G.L. c. 164, § 105A:  the appropriateness of the penalty to the size of the business of 

the person, firm, or corporation charged; the gravity of the violation; and the good faith of the 

person, firm, or corporation charged in attempting to achieve compliance, after notification of a 

violation.   

In the present matter, the Division has reviewed the circumstances of the allegations and 

is prepared to resolve this matter upon Eversource’s agreement to the terms in the attached 

Consent Order and payment of a civil penalty in the amount of $150,000.  

VI. RESPONSE TO THIS NOPV 

Within 30 days of receipt of this NOPV, Eversource shall respond to the Division in one 

of the following ways, pursuant to 220 CMR 69.04: 
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 1. Sign and return the attached Consent Order, thus agreeing to remit payment of the 

civil penalty by check or money order made payable to the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts; 

 
 2. Submit an offer in compromise of the proposed civil penalty under 

220 CMR 69.04(2); 
 
 3. Request an informal conference under 220 CMR 69.05; or 
 
 4. Submit a written reply to the Division disputing the allegation(s) contained in the 

NOPV.  The reply must include a complete statement of all relevant facts and 
authority and full description of the reasons why the Respondent disputes the 
allegation(s) contained in the NOPV. 





  
 

 
CONSENT ORDER 

 
July 11, 2024 D.P.U. 23-PL-64 
 
In the matter of NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy   
 _____________________________________________________________________________  

I. JURISDICTION 

1. This document, with the attached Compliance Agreement, is a Consent Order entered into 
between the Pipeline Safety Division (“Division”) of the Department of Public Utilities 
(“Department”) and NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy (“Respondent”), and is 
executed in accordance with 220 CMR 69.08.   

2. The Division has authority to enter into this Consent Order on behalf of the Department 
pursuant to Delegation Order, D.P.U. 18-44-B (2020).   

3. Failure to comply with the terms of this Order may result in the assessment of civil penalties 
and referral of this matter to the Attorney General for appropriate action.   

4. The terms and conditions of this Order become effective upon signing by the authorized 
representatives of the Respondent and the Department. 

5. Respondent has stipulated and consented to the issuance of this Consent Order. 

II. VIOLATIONS AND CIVIL PENALTY 

1. Pursuant to G.L. c. 164, §§ 76 and 105A, and 220 CMR 69.02, the Division conducted a 
pipeline safety inspection of the Respondent’s facilities and records.  As a result of the 
inspection, the Director of the Division issued to the Respondent a Notice of Probable 
Violation (“NOPV”), D.P.U. 23-PL-64, dated July 11, 2024, in accordance with 
220 CMR 69.03.  The NOPV is attached hereto and made a part hereof.  

2. Based on information contained in the NOPV, the Division finds that the Respondent 
violated pipeline safety regulations contained in 49 C.F.R. Parts 192 and 199, Massachusetts 
regulations and Massachusetts General Laws, specifically: 

49 C.F.R § 192.13(c) - What general requirements apply to pipelines regulated under 
this part? 
49 C.F.R. § 192.605(a) - Procedural manual for operations, maintenance, and 
emergencies. 
49 C.F.R. § 192.614(a) - Damage prevention program. 
G.L. c. 82 § 40B: Designation of Location of Underground Facilities 

 

 
 
 

TThe CCommonwealth of Massachusetts 
 —— 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC UTILITIES 
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220 CMR 99.06(1): Marking Procedures 
220 CMR 99.03(1): Premarking 
49 C.F.R § 199.225(a) - Alcohol tests required. 
 

3. Pursuant to G.L. c. 164, § 105A, the Division hereby imposes upon the Respondent a civil 
penalty in the amount of $150,000 for the above-noted violations.   

4. The Respondent hereby agrees, upon signing and returning this Consent Order to the 
Division, to remit payment of the civil penalty by check or money order in the amount of 
$150,000 made payable to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, One South Station, 
Boston, MA 02110. 

III. RESPONDENT REQUIREMENTS 

1. Respondent shall sign the Stipulation below and return this complete document to the 
Division.  

2. All submissions by Respondent in accordance with this Consent Order shall be addressed to: 

Director Richard Enright 
Pipeline Safety Division  
Department of Public Utilities 
One South Station 
Boston, MA 02110 
 

IV. STIPULATED TERMS 

Pursuant to 220 CMR 69.08(1), the Respondent through the signature below, by the person 
to whom this Consent Order is issued or a duly authorized representative, acknowledges agreement 
to the terms contained herein without admitting or denying that a violation of any Department or 
federal pipeline safety law or regulation occurred in relation to the above-noted matters.  Further, 
Respondent agrees to issuance of this Consent Order and stipulates to the following:  

1. Respondent, by signing the Stipulation, hereby waives: 

(a) All rights to informal review pursuant to 220 CMR 69.05; 

(b)  All rights to a hearing pursuant to 220 CMR 69.06; 

(c) Any and all procedural rights available in connection with the issuance of the 
Consent Order; 

(d) All rights to seek any type of administrative or judicial review of the Consent Order; 
and 

(e) Any and all rights to challenge or contest the validity of the Consent Order. 

2. Respondent expressly acknowledges that neither Respondent nor the Division has any 
intention to enter into a contract. 
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3. The terms and provisions of this Consent Order and Stipulation shall be binding upon, and 
inure to the benefit of, Respondent and the Division and their successors in interest. 

4. Nothing in these Stipulated Terms shall preclude any proceedings brought by the 
Department to enforce the terms of the Consent Order, and nothing in these Stipulated 
Terms constitute, nor shall Respondent contend that they constitute, a waiver of any right, 
power, or authority of any other representative of the Commonwealth or an agency thereof 
to bring other actions deemed appropriate. 

V. FINAL ORDER 

1. This Consent Order and Stipulation is intended to be, and shall be construed to be, a final 
order of the Department issued pursuant to G.L. c. 25, § 5, having the force and effect of a 
remedial order, pursuant to 220 CMR 69.07(2), and expressly does not form, and may not 
be considered to form, a contract binding on the Division, the Department, or the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts.  

2. The terms of this Consent Order and Stipulation, including this paragraph, are not subject to 
amendment or modification by any extraneous expression, prior agreement, or prior 
arrangements between the Division and the Respondent, whether oral or written.  

 
By Order of the Division 
 
 
______________________________________ Date:  __________________ 
Richard Enright, Director  
Pipeline Safety Division 
Department of Public Utilities 
 
 

The undersigned, duly authorized, stipulates to and acknowledges agreement to the 
terms herein. 

NSTAR GAS COMPANY D/B/A EVERSOURCE ENERGY 
 
_______________________________________ Date:  __________________ 
William Akley  
President of Gas Operations 



 
COMPLIANCE AGREEMENT  

BETWEEN THE DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC UTILITIES  
AND NSTAR GAS COMPANY D/B/A EVERSOURCE ENERGY 

 
D.P.U. 23-PL-64 

 
NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy (“Eversource”) agrees to take the following actions 
within the specified time periods: 
 

1. Within 30 days of the effective date of this Order, Eversource shall pay a civil penalty of 
$150,000 to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. 

2. Within 90 days of the effective date of the Order, Eversource shall revise its Operations & 
Maintenance Plan OM-150 to require that photographs of a markout are taken on the same 
day as the markout and provide documentation to the Pipeline Safety Division showing that 
it has satisfied this requirement. 

3. Within 90 days of the effective date of this Order, Eversource shall revise its Operations & 
Maintenance Plan OM-150 to require that photographs of a markout are taken for Dig Safe 
ticket renewal requests in the same manner as a first-time notification and provide 
documentation to the Pipeline Safety Division showing that it has satisfied this requirement. 

4. Within 90 days of the effective date of the Order, Eversource shall revise its Operations & 
Maintenance Plan OM-150 to ensure that inaccurate or incomplete maps and records are 
updated or completed promptly when identified and provide documentation to the Pipeline 
Safety Division showing that it has satisfied this requirement.  

5. Within 90 days of the effective date of the Order, Eversource shall revise its Operations & 
Maintenance Plan OM-150 to add Marking Whiskers to list of approved marking methods 
and provide documentation to the Pipeline Safety Division showing that it has satisfied this 
requirement. 

6. Within 90 days of the effective date of the Order, Eversource shall revise its Operations & 
Maintenance Plan OM-150 to create a new Work Practice to enhance enforcement of visual 
confirmation before excavation takes place and provide documentation to the Pipeline 
Safety Division showing that it has satisfied this requirement.  

7. Within 90 days of the effective date of the Order, Eversource shall revise its Operations & 
Maintenance Plan OM-150 to clarify markout process steps in OM-150 flow chart and 
include problem locate steps and provide documentation to the Pipeline Safety Division 
showing that it has satisfied this requirement.  

8. Within 120 days of the effective date of this Order, Eversource shall revise PS-199, Gas 
Pipeline Safety Drug and Alcohol Testing Plan, to identify Drug and Alcohol testing clinics 
that are able to be accessed during non-business hours and provide documentation to the 
Pipeline Safety Division showing that it has satisfied this requirement.  



 
9. Within 90 days of the effective date of the Order, Eversource shall ensure that all employees 

and contractors performing gas work be provided appropriate curb-valve keys that would fit 
valves at each location the work is being performed. 
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NOTICE OF PROBABLE VIOLATION 

ELECTRONIC MAIL--RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 

July 11, 2024 D.P.U. 23-DS-1260I 
 

R.J. Devereaux Corporation 
17 Pleasant Street, 2nd Floor 
Malden, MA 02148 

To Whom It May Concern: 
 

This Notice of Probable Violation (“NOPV”) has important information that affects you 
or your company’s legal rights. Please read the entire letter carefully and have it translated if 
necessary. 

 
Based on information submitted to the Pipeline Safety Division (“Division”) of the 

Department of Public Utilities (“Department”), the Division has reason to believe that on or about 

November 04, 2023, R.J. Devereaux Corporation (“Respondent”) performed an excavation at 126 

Prince St, Needham, Massachusetts, without complying with the applicable provisions of G.L. c. 82, 

§§ 40 through 40E (“Dig Safe Law”) or 220 CMR 99.00 (“Dig Safe Regulations”), or both. 

Specifically, the Division has reason to believe that Respondent failed to maintain the 

designation marking of underground facilities, as required by the Dig Safe Law, G.L. c. 82, § 40C 

and 220 CMR 99.07(4), failed to request remarking at the location due to the obliteration, 

destruction, or other removal of such markings, as required by the Dig Safe Law, G.L. c. 82, § 

40C and 220 CMR 99.07(4), and failed to perform the excavation using non-mechanical means or 

failed to employ reasonable precautions to avoid damage to the underground facilities, as 
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required by the Dig Safe Law, G.L. c. 82, § 40C and 220 CMR 99.07(3).  If the violation report(s) 

regarding this incident has not been included with this NOPV, such report(s) are available for review 

upon request. 

A violation relating to a natural gas pipeline facility is subject to a civil penalty not to exceed 

$500,000 for each violation for each day that the violation exists, up to a maximum of $10,000,000 

for any related series of violations. These dollar amounts shall be doubled if the department 

determines that the violator has engaged 

the violation. G.L. c. 164, § 105A; 220 CMR 99.14(1). A violation relating to any other underground 

facility is subject to a civil penalty of $1,000 for a first offense, and between $5,000 and $10,000 for 

any subsequent offense within twelve consecutive months. G.L. c. 82, § 40E; 220 CMR 99.14(2). In 

determining the amount of the civil penalty, the Division shall consider the following criteria, 

pursuant to 220 CMR 99.14(3): (a) the nature, circumstances, and gravity of the violation, including 

adverse impact on the environment; (b) the degree of Respondent’s culpability; (c) Respondent’s 

history of prior offenses; (d) any good faith by Respondent in attempting to achieve compliance after 

notification of a violation; (e) the effect on Respondent’s ability to continue in business; (f) the 

economic benefit gained from violation, if readily ascertainable, without any reduction because of 

subsequent damages; and (g) such other matters as justice may require. 

In the present matter, the Division has reviewed the circumstances of the allegations and is 

prepared to resolve this matter upon Respondent’s agreement to the terms in the attached Consent Order 

and payment of a civil penalty in the amount of $150,000. 

To resolve this matter, Respondent must respond to the Division in one of the following ways. 

1. Consent Order and Payment: To resolve this matter without disputing the alleged violations, 
Respondent or a duly authorized representative must sign and return the enclosed Consent 
Order to the Division within 30 days of the date of this NOPV, along with a check or money 
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order for $150,000 made payable to the  Commonwealth of Massachusetts. 220 CMR  
99.09(2)(a).  Respondent  should also inform the Division at 
DPU.DamagePrevention@mass.gov that the Consent Order and payment have been 
mailed. 

 
2. Response to NOPV: Respondent can respond to this NOPV in one of two ways.  

First, a substantive written response by email to DPU.DamagePrevention@mass.gov 
within 30 days of the date of this NOPV. This reply must be signed by Respondent or a duly 
authorized representative, and it must include a complete statement of all relevant facts and any 
relevant documents. 220 CMR 99.09(2)(b). The statement may include an explanation of the 
reasons for disputing the allegations, a complete description of the markings provided, and any 
additional evidence such as photos, maps, work orders, emails, correspondence, or witness 
statements. 
Second, Respondent may also request an informal conference, please contact us within ten 
business days of the date of this NOPV at DPU.DamagePrevention@mass.gov. We will 
make every effort to provide reasonable accommodations. 

 

Failure to respond to this NOPV constitutes a waiver of Respondent’s right to 

contest the allegations and authorizes the Department, without further notice to Respondent, to find the 

facts to be as alleged in the NOPV and to issue a remedial order finding Respondent to have violated 

the law and liable to pay the civil penalty. 220 CMR 99.09(4). 

If you have any questions concerning this notice, please direct all inquiries or written 

responses to DPU.DamagePrevention@mass.gov. We look forward to hearing from you.  

Very truly yours, 

 

Richard Enright, 
Director  

Enclosure        Pipeline Safety Division  



  

CONSENT ORDER 
 

 

In the matter of R.J. Devereaux Corporation        D.P.U. 23-DS-1260I 

 
I. JURISDICTION 

1. Pursuant to G.L. c. 82, § 40E and G.L. c. 164, § 105A, the Department of Public Utilities 
(“Department”) has authority to enforce violations of the provisions of G.L. 
c. 82, §§ 40 through 40E (“Dig Safe Law”), and 220 CMR 99.00 (“Dig Safe Regulations”). 

2. The Department issued the Dig Safe Regulations to establish procedures for the 
determination and enforcement of violations of the Dig Safe Law and Dig Safe 
Regulations. 

3. Pursuant to Delegation Order, D.P.U. 18-44-B (2020), the Commission of the Department 
delegated to the Department’s Pipeline Safety Division (“Division”) the administration and 
enforcement of the Dig Safe Law. 

4. For purposes of this Consent Order, R.J. Devereaux Corporation (“Respondent”) is an 
Excavator or Company within the meaning of the Dig Safe Law and the Dig Safe Regulations. 

5. Respondent has stipulated and consented to the issuance of this Consent Order.       II.DIG 

SAFE VIOLATIONS AND CIVIL PENALTY 
Pursuant to the authority vested in it by D.P.U. 18-44-B, the Dig Safe Law, and the Dig Safe 
Regulations, the Division hereby orders that: 
1. Based on information referenced in the July 11, 2024, Notice of Probable Violation (“NOPV”) 

issued by the Division and gathered during the informal review, the Division finds that 
Respondent violated the Dig Safe Law or Dig Safe Regulations, or both, in connection with an 
excavation that occurred at 126 Prince St, Needham, Massachusetts, on or about November 04, 
2023. The NOPV is attached hereto and made a part hereof. 

2. Pursuant to G.L. c. 82, § 40E, and 220 CMR 99.14, the Division imposes upon Respondent a 
civil penalty of $150,000. A violation relating to a natural gas pipeline facility is subject to a 
civil penalty of not more than $500,000 each day, up to a maximum civil penalty of 
$10,000,000 for a related series of violations. G.L. c. 164, § 105A  220 CMR 99.14(1). These 
dollar amounts shall be doubled if the department 
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determines that the violator has engaged in one or more similar violations in the three years 
preceding the violation. A violation relating to any other underground facility is subject to a 
civil penalty of $1,000 for a first offense, and between $5,000 and $10,000 for any subsequent 
offense within twelve consecutive months. G.L. c. 82, § 40E  220 CMR 99.14(2). 

3. Respondent shall pay the civil penalty ordered herein by remittance to the Division of a check or 
money order in the amount of $150,000 made payable to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. 

III. RESPONDENT REQUIREMENTS 
1. Respondent shall sign the Stipulation below and return this complete document to the 

Division along with payment of the civil penalty. 
2. All submissions by Respondent in accordance with this Consent Order shall be 

addressed to: 
 

Attention: Damage Prevention Program 
Pipeline Safety Division 
Department of Public Utilities One 
South Station, 3rd Floor  
Boston, MA 02110 

IV. STIPULATED TERMS 
Respondent, through the signature below, by the person to whom this Consent Order is issued or a 
duly authorized representative, acknowledges agreement to the terms contained herein, pursuant to 
220 CMR 99.13(1). In signing this Order, Respondent neither admits nor denies that a violation 
of any Department or federal pipeline safety law or regulation occurred in relation to the above 
noted matters. Further, Respondent agrees to issuance of this Consent Order and stipulates to the 
following: 
1. Respondent, by signing the Stipulation, hereby waives: 

a. All rights to informal review pursuant to 220 CMR 99.10  

b. All rights to an adjudicatory hearing pursuant to 220 CMR 99.10(3)  

c. Any and all procedural rights available in connection with the issuance of the Consent 
Order  

d. All rights to seek any type of administrative or judicial review of the Consent Order  
and 

e. Any and all rights to challenge or contest the validity of the Consent Order. 
2. Respondent expressly acknowledges that neither Respondent nor the Division has any 

intention to enter into a contract. 
3. The terms and provisions of this Consent Order and Stipulation shall be binding upon, and 

inure to the benefit of, Respondent and the Division and their successors in interest. 



 

D.P.U. 23-DS-1260I Page 3 
Consent Order 

 

 
4. Nothing in these Stipulated Terms shall preclude any proceedings brought by the 

Department to enforce the terms of the Consent Order, and nothing in these Stipulated 
Terms constitute, nor shall Respondent contend that they constitute, a waiver of any right, 
power, or authority of any other representative of the Commonwealth or an agency thereof 
to bring other actions deemed appropriate. 

V. FINAL ORDER 
1. This Consent Order and Stipulation is intended to be, and shall be construed to be, a final 

order of the Department issued pursuant to G.L. c. 25, § 5, having the force and effect of a 
remedial order, pursuant to 220 CMR 99.13(2), and expressly does not form, and may not be 
considered to form, a contract binding on the Division, the Department, or the Commonwealth 
of Massachusetts. 

2. The terms of this Consent Order and Stipulation, including this paragraph, are not subject to 
amendment or modification by any extraneous expression, prior agreement, or prior 
arrangements between the Division and the Respondent, whether oral or written. 

By Order of the Division 
 
 
 
 
 

Date: 
Richard Enright,  
Director  
Pipeline Safety Division 
Department of Public Utilities 

 
 

The undersigned, duly authorized, stipulates to and acknowledges agreement to the terms 
herein. 

R.J. Devereaux Corporation 
 

By: Date: 

Print Name:   

Title: 
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INFORMAL REVIEW DECISION

ELECTRONIC MAIL--RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

D.P.U. 23-DS-1260IFebruary , 2025 

R.J. Devereaux Corporation 
17 Pleasant Street, 2nd Floor 
Malden, MA, 02148 

To Whom It May Concern: 

On July 11, 2024, the Pipeline Safety Division (“Division”) of the Department of Public Utilities 

(“Department”), pursuant to 220 CMR 99.09(1), issued R.J. Devereaux Corporation (“Respondent”) a 

Notice of Probable Violation (“NOPV”), stating that the Division had reason to believe that on or about 

November 4, 2023, Respondent performed excavations at 126 Prince St, Needham, Massachusetts, without 

complying with the applicable provisions of G.L. c. 82, §§ 40 through 40E (“Dig Safe Law”) or 

220 CMR 99.00 (“Dig Safe Regulations”), or both.  

Specifically, the NOPV stated that the Division had reason to believe that Respondent failed to 

maintain the designation marking of underground facilities, as required by the Dig Safe Law, G.L. c. 

82, § 40C and 220 CMR 99.07(4), failed to request remarking at the location due to the obliteration, 

destruction, or other removal of such markings, as required by the Dig Safe Law, G.L. c. 82, § 40C 
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and 220 CMR 99.07(4), and failed to perform the excavation using non-mechanical means or failed to 

employ reasonable precautions to avoid damage to the underground facilities, as required by the Dig 

Safe Law, G.L. c. 82, § 40C and 220 CMR 99.07(3).  The NOPV further stated that Respondent had a right 

to reply in writing within 30 days, or to appear before a Division investigator at an informal conference.  On 

September 17, 2024, Respondent appeared at an informal conference.  After the informal conference, 

Respondent filed a document demonstrating corrective actions taken, which we received on September 17, 

2024 (“Corrective Actions Document”).   

The evidence includes a Dig Safe Violation Report (“DSVR”) provided by Respondent, a DSVR 

provided by a Division inspector, relevant Dig Safe tickets, locate photographs, damage investigation 

photographs, Respondent’s Incident Analysis Report that was included as an attachment to the DSVR, and 

the Corrective Actions Document.  The evidence shows that on November 4, 2023, while excavating to 

install a new gas service at 126 Prince Street in Needham, Respondent struck and damaged an active steel 

gas service with an excavator that resulted in the release of gas, an ignition, house fire, and ultimately 

demolition of the residence. 

At the informal conference, Respondent did not dispute the factual allegations of the NOPV, but did 

request a reduction of the $150,000 civil penalty amount.  Specifically, Respondent did not dispute that it 

failed to maintain the designation markings of underground facilities, and that it failed to request remarking 

at the location due to the destruction, obliteration or removal of such markings.  Respondent also did not 

dispute that it failed to perform the excavation using non-mechanical means and failed to employ reasonable 

precautions to avoid damage to the underground facilities.  Instead, Respondent provided in detail the 

corrective actions it has taken since the incident in support of its request for a reduction in the civil penalty. 
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The Division has conducted a review of all the relevant evidence submitted, including the 

information that Respondent provided at the informal conference and in the Corrective Actions Document, 

and finds that Respondent committed the violations as alleged in the NOPV.  Specifically, the Division finds 

that Respondent violated G.L. c. 82, § 40C, 220 CMR 99.07(4), and 220 CMR 99.07(3).  The Division 

appreciates the remedial actions taken by Respondent.  However, after considering the criteria for 

determining the amount of the civil penalty as set forth in 220 CMR 99.14(3), including the degree of 

Respondent’s culpablility, and the nature, circumstance, and gravity of the violations, the Division denies the 

request to reduce the $150,000 civil penalty assessed in the NOPV.     

To resolve this matter, you or a duly authorized representative should sign and return the enclosed 

Consent Order within 30 days of the date of this decision.  220 CMR 99.13(1).  The Consent Order must 

be accompanied by a check or money order for $150,000 made payable to the Commonwealth of 

Massachusetts.   

If you wish to dispute the Division’s decision, you have the right to request an adjudicatory hearing 

by submitting a written request within 14 days of the date of this decision to Mark D. Marini, Department 

Secretary.  Until further notice, the Department requires that the written request be submitted in electronic 

format to dpu.efiling@mass.gov.1  

An adjudicatory hearing is a formal proceeding as defined by G.L. c. 30A and is conducted by a 

Department hearing officer pursuant to 220 CMR 1.00.  The adjudicatory hearing provides an opportunity 

for the Department to review the facts and circumstances of the alleged Dig Safe violation(s).  The amount of 

the civil penalty sought at an adjudicatory hearing may be higher than the fine amount stated herein.  At the 

1 If you do not have access to email, please call Mark D. Marini at 617-305-3618 in advance of the 14-
day deadline to make other arrangements. 
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adjudicatory hearing, Respondent must be represented by an attorney, unless Respondent is an 

individual representing him or herself.

Failure to request an adjudicatory hearing constitutes a waiver of Respondent’s right to contest the 

decision and authorizes the Department, without further notice to Respondent, to hold Respondent liable to 

pay the civil penalty through the issuance of a Remedial Order.2  220 CMR 99.10(3).

If you have any questions regarding this matter, please direct your inquiries to 

DPU.DamagePrevention@mass.gov. 

Very truly yours, 

Richard Enright, Director  
Pipeline Safety Division

Enclosure:  Consent Order 

2 A Remedial Order is a final decision of the Department within the meaning of G.L. c. 25, § 5, subject 
to review by the Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court, and effective upon issuance unless stayed, 
suspended, modified, or rescinded.  220 CMR 99.12. 



CONSENT ORDER 

In the matter of R.J. Devereaux Corporation D.P.U. 23-DS-1260I 
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

I. JURISDICTION

1. Pursuant to G.L. c. 82, § 40E and G.L. c. 164, § 105A, the Department of Public Utilities
(“Department”) has authority to enforce violations of the provisions of G.L. c. 82, §§ 40 through
40E (“Dig Safe Law”), and 220 CMR 99.00 (“Dig Safe Regulations”).

2. The Department issued the Dig Safe Regulations to establish procedures for the determination
and enforcement of violations of the Dig Safe Law and Dig Safe Regulations.

3. Pursuant to Delegation Order, D.P.U. 18-44-B (2020), the Commission of the Department
delegated to the Department’s Pipeline Safety Division (“Division”) the administration and
enforcement of the Dig Safe Law.

4. For purposes of this Consent Order, R.J. Devereaux Corporation (“Respondent”) is an
Excavator or Company within the meaning of the Dig Safe Law and the Dig Safe Regulations.

5. Respondent has stipulated and consented to the issuance of this Consent Order.

II. DIG SAFE VIOLATIONS AND CIVIL PENALTY

Pursuant to the authority vested in it by D.P.U. 18-44-B, the Dig Safe Law, and the Dig Safe
Regulations, the Division hereby orders that:

1. Based on information referenced in the July 11, 2024 Notice of Probable Violation (“NOPV”)
issued by the Division and gathered during the informal review, the Division finds that
Respondent violated the Dig Safe Law or Dig Safe Regulations, or both, in connection with an
excavation that occurred at 126 Prince St, Needham, Massachusetts, on or about November 4,
2023.  The NOPV is attached hereto and made a part hereof.

2. Pursuant to G.L. c. 82, § 40E, and 220 CMR 99.14, the Division imposes upon Respondent a
civil penalty of $150,000.  A violation relating to a natural gas pipeline facility is subject to a
civil penalty of not more than $500,000 each day, up to a maximum civil penalty of $10,000,000
for a related series of violations.  G.L. c. 164, § 105A; 220 CMR 99.14(1).  These dollar
amounts shall be doubled if the department determines that the violator has engaged in one or
more similar violations in the three years preceding the violation.  A violation relating to any
other underground facility is subject to a civil penalty of $1,000 for a first offense, and between

TThe Commonwealth of Massachusetts 
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$5,000 and $10,000 for any subsequent offense within twelve consecutive months.  G.L. c. 82, 
§ 40E; 220 CMR 99.14(2).

3. Respondent shall pay the civil penalty ordered herein by remittance to the Division of a check or
money order in the amount of $150,000 made payable to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

III. RESPONDENT REQUIREMENTS

1. Respondent shall sign the Stipulation below and return this complete document to the
Division along with payment of the civil penalty.

2. All submissions by Respondent in accordance with this Consent Order shall be addressed to:

Attention:  Damage Prevention Program 
Pipeline Safety Division  
Department of Public Utilities 
One South Station, 3rd Floor 
Boston, MA 02110 

IV. STIPULATED TERMS

Respondent, through the signature below, by the person to whom this Consent Order is issued or a duly
authorized representative, acknowledges agreement to the terms contained herein, pursuant to
220 CMR 99.13(1).  In signing this Order, Respondent neither admits nor denies that a violation of any
Department or federal pipeline safety law or regulation occurred in relation to the above-noted
matters.  Further, Respondent agrees to issuance of this Consent Order and stipulates to the following:

1. Respondent, by signing the Stipulation, hereby waives:

(a) All rights to an adjudicatory hearing pursuant to 220 CMR 99.10(3);

(b) Any and all procedural rights available in connection with the issuance of the Consent
Order;

(c) All rights to seek any type of administrative or judicial review of the Consent Order; and

(d) Any and all rights to challenge or contest the validity of the Consent Order.

2. Respondent expressly acknowledges that neither Respondent nor the Division has any intention
to enter into a contract.

3. The terms and provisions of this Consent Order and Stipulation shall be binding upon, and inure
to the benefit of, Respondent and the Division and their successors in interest.

4. Nothing in these Stipulated Terms shall preclude any proceedings brought by the Department to
enforce the terms of the Consent Order, and nothing in these Stipulated Terms constitute, nor
shall Respondent contend that they constitute, a waiver of any right, power, or authority of any
other representative of the Commonwealth or an agency thereof to bring other actions deemed
appropriate.
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